FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 8/14/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON gton CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 86180-8-I Case #: 1033699

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ADAM J. DIGGINS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER B. TILLER
Attorney for Petitioner
THE TILLER LAW FIRM
118 North Rock Street
P. O. Box 58
Centralia, WA 98531
(360) 736-9301

TAB	BLE OF CONTENTS	PAGE
Α.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER	1
В.	DECISION OF COURT OF APPE	ALS 1
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIE	:w 1
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	3
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOWN ACCEPTED

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Adam Diggins, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in part B of this petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Diggins*, No. 86180-8-I, 2024 WL 3410749 (Slip op. July 15, 2024). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-34.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. To prove that a speaker made an unprotected "true threat" under the First Amendment, the State must prove recklessness, meaning that the speaker consciously disregarded a substantial risk that the speaker's communications would be viewed as threatening violence. The Supreme Court recently held that proof of a more culpable mental state for true threats than the "reasonable person" standard is required, and instead proof the speaker intended to induce fear of bodily injury. *Counterman*

- v. Colorado, 600 U.S. 66, 143 S. Ct. 2106, 216 L.Ed.2d 775 (2023). Should this Court accept review where the convictions for felony harassment and cyber stalking require proof that Diggins made a "true threat" and where the convictions were not supported by evidence that Diggins subjectively intended to induce fear of the alleged threats, and where the jury instructions incorrectly stated the law and only required the jury find him guilty if a reasonable person in Diggins' position would understand his communications to threaten death, not that he consciously disregarded a substantial risk that his communications would be viewed as threatening death?
- 2. Should this Court accept review where the State did not present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Diggins' intent and actions went beyond mere preparation and constituted a substantial step toward killing M.D.?
- 3. Should this Court accept review where the prosecutor committed flagrant misconduct when he argued to the jury that this case was like the well-publicized case in which a man

threatened to kill Justice Kavanagh, travelled from California to Maryland with weapons, and was arrested and charged with attempted murder

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Adam Diggins with attempted first-degree murder, felony harassment, cyberstalking, and use of drug paraphernalia. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 16-18.

At the first trial the jury heard testimony that D.G. had a fifteen year relationship with Adam Diggins and that they have a 22 year old daughter together. 1Report of Proceedings (RP) 168. Their relationship ended in 2008 or 2009. 1RP 169. D.G. had a relationship with M.D. in 2019 and moved in with him in his house in Longview, Washington in March 2021. 1RP 168, 198.

Diggins lives in Clackamas Oregon with his girlfriend 1RP 171. Diggins remained in contact with D.G. through telephone and text, and at times he would give her money through an online app or in cash. 1RP 171. On May 5, 2021 he messaged D.G. though Facebook Messenger and wanted to know if she was "still

talking to [M.]" and asked her to contact him. 1RP at 177. Diggins sent a series of messages to the effect that he going to kill M.D. and that D.G. "better call me and talk some sense into me because I'm going straight there and hopefully I'll get killed." 1RP at 180-81. In another message he said that he was in Woodland, Washington and was not stopping and sent a picture of a handgun in his vehicle. IRP 181. D.G. told M.D. about the messages and he notified police. 1RP 183. D.G. received more messages on May 7, and sent her address to her and address and said he would see her or M.D. "in 45." 1RP 187. After he saw the messages from D.G., M.D. told her to call the police and told her where he kept a handgun in the house. 1RP 200. M.D. subsequently called police and said that he was concerned for D.G. and that he was afraid that Diggins may come to the house with a gun. 1RP 200. M.D. remained at work and did not go to the house. IRP 201.

On May 7, 2021 D.G. showed additional messages from Diggins to M.D. including a message that contained their home

address in Longview and saying that he was coming to their house. IRP 202. M.D. called the police and then took guns to a bedroom with a window facing the front of their house and watched the driveway. IRP 203. He said that he was prepared to use the guns "[i]f the situation required it[.]" IRP 203. Police arrived and while he was filling out a statement, D.G. got a message with a picture of a house they recognized as being located down the street from M.D. 's house. IRP 204.

Diggins said that he called D.G. several times on May 7, 2021, that he "apologized for leaving the threats," and that said that he wanted to know if she was "back with [M.] or not." 1RP 343. He said that he wanted her to know that he no longer wanted to kill M.D. 1RP 343. He said that he called her five to seven times and left messages for her. 1RP 345. He said that he was angry in the morning and by the third message that he left after stopping at a casino, and was apologetic. 1RP 346. After losing money at the casino, he proceeded to a location near M.D.'s house and parked, and was arrested shortly thereafter. 1RP at 346.

Diggins said that he had unloaded the gun by taking the magazine out of it while stopped in a parking lot in Kelso and then put the gun under the seat and put the magazine in a holster and put it in the center console of his car. 1RP 391.

The jury convicted Diggins of felony, cyberstalking, and use of drug paraphernalia. 2RP 522; CP 126-28. A mistrial was declared for first degree attempted murder. 2RP 527.

Following a mistrial on the remaining attempted first-degree murder charge, the case proceeded to trial a third time in early August 2022. 3RP 919-1300.

D.G. said that Diggins was her best friend. 3RP 1238. She said that Diggins would typically have his gun in his car when he drove. 3RP 1239. She said that they have been separated for ten years but that they continued to talk to each other and he would send her money through Facebook Messenger or would give her cash. 3RP 1239. She said that the texts and calls started when he sent her \$900.00 in May, 2021. 3RP 1240. She said that the threats were "concerning" to her, and she texted with M.D.,

who wanted her to call the police. 3RP 1240-41. She said that she locked doors at his house but did not call the police and did not want M.D. to call the police. 3RP 1241, 1242. M.D. called police to say that D.G. had received messages containing threats from Diggins on May 6. 3RP 1051, 1113.

Cowlitz County Deputy Sheriff Trever Wolff responded to M.D.'s house again on May 7 regarding a report of threats made against M.D. and that he threatened to come to his house. 3RP 1114. M.D. provided a picture of gray Dodge Nitro with Oregon plates and copies of the messages that D.G. had received the previous night and that day to Deputy Wolff. 3RP 1116. Deputy Wolff said that D.G. was "scared, emotionally distraught." 3RP 1052. Deputy Wolff said that one text was a picture of a handgun that "appeared to be loaded on the center console of a vehicle." 3RP 1053. On cross examination, he said that it appeared there was a bullet "at the top of the magazine" but could not say if a bullet was in the chamber. 3RP 1060.

While D.G. was talking with Deputy Corey Parker, she

received a picture of an intersection about 500 feet from M.D. 's house. 3RP 1117. Deputy Parker left the house and saw a Dodge Nitro with Oregon plates parked at the intersection and pulled in behind the car. 3RP 1118. With his gun drawn, the deputy ordered Diggins to show his hands. 3RP 1118. He said Diggins raised his left hand and right hand "dipped down and I could see his shoulder moving as if he was moving his right arm around." 3RP 1118. After about fifteen seconds he showed his right hand. 3RP 1119. Diggins told him that he was not going to hurt anyone but himself. 3RP 1120. He said that Diggins told him the gun was being legally transported and that the magazine and holster were in the center console and that the gun was on the passenger floorboard or underneath the front passenger seat. 3RP 1122. He found the holster in the center console with the magazine inside it. 3RP 1123. Deputy Parker said that Diggins said that he had removed the magazine after he parked. 3RP 1123. The police determined the gun was unloaded when recovered and police did not find any bullet ejected from the chamber. 3RP 1153.

Portions of voice mails left by Diggins were played to the jury, including: "I'm probably going to go up there and probably f*@king shoot that guy in the head." "I absolutely am going to kill him, and I'm absolutely going to kill myself. I am absolutely going to do this. I have a hard time because I don't have the ability to do it myself, but I'm going to be able to kill him, and that will kill me." 3RP 1214-15. "You need to call because I'm going to be driving all the way there and it's not going to be good once I get there." 3RP 1215-16. "I'm on the way up there. I'm going to talk to [M.], because I feel like I need to hear what he has to say. I want to know what's going on." "So either I'll see you at [M.]'s, or--hopefully not, because that would be really f*@ked up, or I'll see you in Halfway later on this evening, and I expect you to be there." 3RP 1217.

Cowlitz County Detective Troy Lee found eight voice mails on D.G.'s phone, six of which appeared to have been deleted, one was saved and one in an "inbox." 3RP 1209. The male caller—identified by Detective Troy as Diggins—said that

he was "driving up there, he's going to kill [M.] by shooting him in the head and then kill himself." 3RP 1209.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

The considerations that govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this Court should accept review of this issue because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

1. RESPECTFULLY, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE JURY WAS NOT ACCURATELY INSTRUCTED REGARDING A "TRUE THREAT" IN LIGHT OF COUNTERMAN

The state and federal constitutions protect speech. U.S. Const. amends. I, XIV; Const. art. I, § 5. In general, the government has no power to restrict or punish expression because of its message, its ideas, its subject matter, or its content. *Brown v. Entm't Merchants Ass'n*, 564 U.S. 786, 790, 131 S. Ct. 2729,

180 L. Ed. 2d 708 (2011).

Under the First Amendment only a true threat suffices for a conviction under RCW 9A.46.020 and RCW 9.61.260. Diggins argues that this Court should accept review and that his convictions for felony harassment and cyberstalking must be overturned because neither party was placed in reasonable fear by Diggins' messages, and that the State presented insufficient evidence that he made a "true threat."

RCW 9A.46.020 and RCW 9.61.260 criminalize pure speech. Therefore, it "'must be interpreted with the commands of the First Amendment clearly in mind.' "State v. Williams, 144 Wn.2d 197, 206–07, 26 P.3d 890 (2001) (quoting Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707, 89 S.Ct. 1399, 22 L.Ed.2d 664 (1969)). One category of unprotected speech under the First Amendment is "true threats" of violence. See Watts, 394 U.S. at 707; see also, e.g., United States v. Fulmer, 108 F.3d 1486, 1492–93 (1st Cir.1997); Williams, 144 Wn.2d at 207; State v. J.M., 144 Wn.2d 472, 477, 28 P.3d 720 (2001). A true threat is "a statement made

in a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted ... as a serious expression of intention to inflict bodily harm upon or to take the life of another person." State v. Allen, 176 Wn.2d 611, 626, 294 P.3d 679 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *State v. Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 A true threat is a serious threat, not one said in jest, idle talk, or political argument. *Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d at 43 (citing *United States v. Howell*, 719 F.2d 1258, 1260 (5th Cir.1984)). Communications that "bear the wording of threats but which are in fact merely jokes, idle talk, or hyperbole" are not true threats. State v. Schaler, 169 Wn.2d 274, 283, 236 P.3d 858 (2010). See also, *Watts*, 394 U.S. at 708; *State v. D.R.C.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 818, 827-29, 467 P.3d 994 (2020).

In June, 2023, the Court issued its decision in *Counterman*v. *Colorado*, 600 U.S. 66, 143 S.Ct 2106, ___ L.Ed.2d ___ (2023).

In *Counterman*, Colorado charged Counterman with violation of a stalking statute after he sent a woman hundreds of unsolicited

Facebook messages. 143 S.Ct. at 2112. The woman contacted authorities when her fear of the messages began to upend her daily life. *Id.* Counterman addressed whether the First Amendment requires proof of a criminal defendant's mental state to support a conviction for "[t]rue threats of violence." 143 S. Ct. at 2111.

The Court recognized that a statement can be a true threat "based solely on its objective content." 143 S. Ct. at 2113. The Court found that the defendant must have "consciously disregarded a substantial risk that his communications would be viewed as threatening violence." *Id.* at 2112. Writing for the majority, Justice Kagan held that the First Amendment requires proof that the defendant in a "true threats" criminal case has a "subjective understanding of the threatening nature of his statements." 143 S. Ct. at 2111, 2116–2117. After determining that the State must prove some subjective mental state, the Court considered what mental state applied. It held that "recklessness offers the right path forward." *Id.* at 2117–18. Under this standard, the State must prove a speaker consciously disregarded a

substantial risk that his communication would be viewed as threatening violence. *Id.* at 2111–12.

After establishing the true threat framework, Justice Kagan found Counterman was prosecuted under the now constitutionally infirm "objective standard." *Id.* Under that standard, the State never had to show or showed "any awareness on [Counterman's] part that the statements could be understood [as threats]." *Id.* Accordingly, the majority held that Counterman's conviction violated the First Amendment. *Id.*

Similarly, Diggins was prosecuted under an objective standard. At the time of trial the focus of the true threat analysis was on the speaker and the test was objective. *State v. Trey M.*, 186 Wn.2d 884, 893, 383 P.3d 474 (2016). The question has been whether a reasonable person in the speaker's position would foresee his or her statement would be interpreted as a serious expression of intent to cause physical harm. *Williams*, 144 Wn.2d at 207-08.

Diggins' jury was not instructed to find that Diggins

understood his statements to be true threats. Those instructions were inconsistent with Counterman, supra. Diggins' conviction is therefore constitutionally flawed and must be vacated.

Under Counterman, jury instructions in a true-threats prosecution must "demand []" proof "that the defendant was aware in some way of the threatening nature of his communications." Counterman, 600 U.S. at 72. But the instructions at Diggins' first trial failed to provide any statement--much less a clear and unambiguous one--requiring that Diggins engaged in subjectively CP 108, 110, 111, 113. These instructions reckless conduct. fail to satisfy Counterman's requirement that the State must prove a "subjective element" regarding the defendant's understanding of a communication's threatening nature. Counterman, 600 U.S. at 77-78. Indeed, they lack any instruction requiring the government to show the defendant's subjective awareness as to whether a reasonable person would understand his communications as threatening. Id. at 79-82.

The error is not harmless where, as here, the evidence and

instructions leave it ambiguous as to whether the jury would have convicted on proper grounds. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341-43, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). In order to hold a constitutional error harmless, "we must 'conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error.' " *Brown*, 147 Wn.2d at 341 (quoting *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 19, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999)). Here, it is far from clear that Diggins would have been convicted under the new standard contained in *Counterman*.

The only instruction regarding the State's burden of proof with respect to the alleged "true threat" emphasizes an objective inquiry based on whether the statement "places the person threatened by any other person, in reasonable fear that he threat will be carried out[,] and that "a reasonable person, in the position of the speaker, would foresee that the statement or act would be interpreted as a serous expression of intention to carry out the threat rather than as something said in jest or idle talk." Instructions 13, 15; CP 106, 108. That is precisely the error the

Supreme Court corrected in *Counterman* by rejecting an exclusively "objective" standard that focuses only on what is "convey[ed]" to the recipient. See *Counterman*, 600 U.S. at 72, 74. Because the instructions given at Diggins' trial did not require "any awareness on his part that the statements could be understood" as true threats, the instructions inadequately conveyed the required *mens rea* to authorize convictions for felony harassment and cyberstalking.

Review should be accepted because the jury did not have the constitutionally appropriate framework to make a First Amendment determination.

2. RESPECTFULLY, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE THAT DIGGINS TOOK A "SUBSTANTIAL STEP" BEYOND "MERE PREPARATION" TO COMMIT ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER

Diggins was convicted in the third of attempted murder in the first degree. CP 16. A person commits murder in the first degree when, "[w]ith a premeditated intent to cause the death of another person, he or she causes the death of such person." RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a). This appeal focuses not on the elements of first-degree murder, but on the attempt to commit a crime.

The federal Constitution's Fifth Amendment right to due process and Sixth Amendment right to jury trial, made applicable to the states through the 14th Amendment, require the prosecution to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970).

"A person is guilty of an attempt to commit a crime if, with intent to commit a specific crime, he or she does any act which is a substantial step toward the commission of that crime." RCW 9A.28.020(1). A person commits first degree attempted murder when, with premeditated intent to cause the death of another, he takes a substantial step toward commission of the act. *State v. Price*, 103 Wn. App. 845, 851-52, 14 P.3d 841 (2000); RCW 9A.28.020. In order to convict him of attempted first degree murder, the State was required to show beyond a reasonable doubt

that Diggins, with premeditated intent to cause M.D.'s death, took a substantial step toward the commission of that crime. *Price*, 103 Wn. App. at 852-53; RCW 9A.28.020(1); 9A.32.030(1)(a). See also *In re Pers. Restraint of Borrero*, 161 Wn.2d 532, 539-40, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007). A 'substantial step' is conduct strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose." *Borrero*, 161 Wn.2d at 539; *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 452, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). "[A]ny act done in furtherance of the crime constitutes an attempt if it clearly shows the design of the defendant to commit the crime." *State v. Wilson*, 158 Wn. App. 305, 317, 242 P.3d 19 (2010).

Intent alone to commit a crime is not punishable. State v. Lewis, 69 Wn.2d 120, 124, 417 P.2d 618 (1966). The intent must coincide with some overt act adapted to, approximating and which, in the ordinary and likely course of events, will result in the commission of the target crime, reaching far enough toward its accomplishment to amount to the commencement of the consummation. Lewis, 69 Wn.2d at 124. Mere preparation to

commit a crime does not qualify as a substantial step. *Workman*, 90 Wn.2d at 449-50. The conduct of the accused, while it need not be the last act necessary to the consummation of the intended crime, must approach sufficiently near the completion to stand as a direct movement toward the commission of the offense after making preparations. *Lewis*, 69 Wn.2d at 124-25. In determining when preparation ceases and attempt begins, the law does not afford a rigid formula. *Lewis*, 69 Wn.2d at 125.

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