FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/14/2024 3:45 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT No. 103369-9 COA No. 86180-8-I Cowlitz Co. Superior Court No. 21-1-00456-08

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ADAM JUDAH DIGGINS, Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC BENTSON/WSBA#38471 Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Hall of Justice 312 SW First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91166

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with another decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of *State of Washington v. Adam Diggins*, Court of Appeals No. 86180-8-I.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with a prior decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals by finding:

- (1) An error in the jury instructions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?
- (2) Sufficient evidence for the jury to find a "substantial step" toward the crime of murder in the first degree?

(3) Diggins waived his claim of misconduct when he did not object to the prosecutor's passing reference during closing argument?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Denise Geer and Adam Diggins had a 15-year relationship that ended between 2008-2009. RP 168-69. In March of 2021, Geer moved into Mark Deszendeffy's home at 246 St. James Place in Longview. RP 167-68. Diggins lived in Happy Valley, Oregon. RP 170-71.

On May 6th, 2021, Geer messaged Diggins thanking him for money he had sent. RP 172, 239-40. Becoming jealous, Diggins asked multiple times if she was still talking to Deszendeffy. RP 240. Geer told Diggins they had not been in a relationship for years, and it was none of his business. RP 240. Diggins complained she had "used" him. RP 241. Geer told Diggins she had not used him and was turning off her phone. RP 242.

Diggins sent Geer a long series of messages without receiving a response, threatening to murder Deszendeffy and commit suicide:

- I might kill myself or Mark and I'm serious as cancer.
- You need to call me right now and clarify before I do something stupid.
- Well today's the day I'm not going to go alone. I am going to take that f*** out with me. The one who destroyed my life and defiled my f***ing beautiful wife. I'm going to kill him and I will never forgive you.
- You better call me and talk some sense into me because I'm going straight there now. Hopefully I'll get killed.
- I'm in Woodland and I'm not stopping. You have no capacity to even imagine my passion and that I would truly die for love.

RP 242-49.

Diggins then sent Geer a photo of a loaded Glock 26 pistol inside his vehicle. RP 182, 212, 245. Diggins messaged Geer: "I know you think it's another bluff, but don't worry. This time

I am for real." RP 245. Diggins continually sent messages berating Geer and threatening Deszendeffy:

F*** you. I'll never forgive you. I don't think I could ever be with you (sic) f***ing whore ass anyways. I could never forgive you. You disgust me. You're evil. You destroyed our family. This man is going to die because you betrayed what was right[.]

RP 247.

During this timeframe, Geer and Diggins' adult daughter, Madison Diggins, sent messages to Diggins asking him to return home. RP 251. Diggins expressed hatred for Deszendeffy: "I can't stop this. I hate that piece of sh** for everything he took from me, then he doesn't even cherish it, treats her like sh** and still has her[.]" RP 253. Madison told Diggins to return home because his current girlfriend needed the car for work. RP 253. Diggins informed her that he would never return, stating: "She can pick up my car in Longview right on St. James Place." RP 253.

After Madison pleaded with him to return home, Diggins sent her a picture of the Glock 26 pistol inside his car and messaged: "This is bye bye time." RP 254-55. Diggins told Madison: "Once I see him I won't be able to not shoot and that will get me shot." RP 256-57. Madison did not reply. RP 257.

When Geer activated her phone, she observed the messages and panicked. RP 179, 183. She forwarded the messages to Deszendeffy, who was at work, and he called the police. RP 179, 183, 200.

The next morning, on May 7th, Diggins began texting again. RP 292. At 8:39 a.m., he messaged Madison: "Madi get your mom on the phone or this sh** is going to get real crazy! I'm serious!" RP 258. At 8:51 a.m., Diggins texted Geer:

- [W]ake up and call me before I escalate. You need to call me before I start driving back to Longview like I did yesterday. I'll start there and Halfway. I swear to God you need to face this situation you let happen.

- ...You think you can take my money and play my friend and there wouldn't be consequences? Now I know why you're scared of me, because of your lies and actions. You should be.
- I don't know either one of you. You are both wicked people that need to come before God and ask forgiveness. These are not little things. These lies and deceit can cost people their lives.

RP 294-95.

Two hours later at 10:46 a.m., Diggins suggested to Geer that they should "hookup" and sent her a winking emoji. RP 296. Diggins texted Geer:

- So save me a little time and headache do I go to St. James Place or Cornucopia? I guess I try St. James first and have a little chit chat with Mark. I'll be cool, don't worry.
- Okay. I am taking off now to 246 St. James Place, Longview, Washington, 98632-9548. I'll see ya or Mark in 45[.]
- I hope you are not there.

RP 296-97.

Geer did not immediately observe these texts, because her phone battery died. RP 185. Upon observing them, Geer showed

Deszendeffy. RP 202-03. Because Diggins was headed to his home and knew his address, Deszendeffy called the police, equipped himself with two loaded guns, then waited in his front bedroom, where he could observe Diggins arriving in his driveway. RP 203.

Deputy Corey Parker arrived, and Geer activated her phone to show him the messages. RP 185, 269. While Parker was speaking with Deszendeffy, Geer exclaimed, "[O]h, my God, he's here." RP 269. On her phone was a picture sent by Diggins showing he was less than 500 feet from Deszendeffy's house at the corner of St. James Place and West Beacon Hill. RP 269.

Parker rapidly responded to Diggins' location. RP 269. Parker observed Diggins in a vehicle with Oregon license plates. RP 271. Parker parked behind Diggins, activated his overhead lights, approached with his firearm out, and ordered: "Show me your hands." RP 271. Diggins refused to show both hands. RP 271. Diggins put his left hand up, however he dipped down to

the right and was moving his right arm. RP 272. Parker could not see what Diggins was doing with his right hand. RP 272. Diggins refused to show both hands for 10-15 seconds. RP 405. Again, Parker ordered Diggins to show both his hands. RP 272. Diggins delayed before finally raising his right hand. RP 272.

Diggins was ordered out of the vehicle. RP 272. Diggins claimed he had not made any threats. RP 274. When Parker told Diggins he had threatened to kill Deszendeffy with the gun, Diggins admitted, "I did that." RP 274. Diggins admitted to having a firearm and then claimed it was being "legally transported." RP 275. Consistent with having thrown the gun from his person, when asked the gun's location, Diggins said it was either on the passenger floorboard or under the passenger seat. RP 275.

In the center console, Parker located a loaded magazine that had been dropped down into a holster with the bullets up. RP 276. Diggins admitted to removing the magazine from the

gun after arriving at St. James Place. RP 277. Under the front passenger seat, Parker located the Glock 26 handgun. RP 277.

Diggins was charged with attempted murder, felony harassment, cyberstalking, and use of drug paraphernalia. At trial, Diggins testified his purpose in sending the messages was "[t]o shock her and scare her, make her call me." RP 383. He also said he apologized, "given the magnitude of the messages that I sent." RP 385-86. The jury found Diggins guilty of all charges except attempted murder, where it could not reach a unanimous verdict. RP 522-23.

On August 4th, the case again proceeded to trial on attempted murder in the first degree. RP 919, 929. Diggins did not testify. RP 1247. In addition to the above-described evidence, the jury also heard voicemails discovered through a later search warrant of Geer's phone. RP 1208-09, 1212-18. On May 6th, Diggins sent the following voice mails to Geer:

- ...I will go kill that bastard, I'm not exaggerating at all. You don't understand how much this means to me.... You don't realize what you're doing. I'm probably going to go up there and probably f***ing shoot that guy in the head.
- ...I have to do this. This is what it is, and I don't know if you knew it, but it is. And I absolutely am going to kill him, and I'm absolutely going to kill myself. I am absolutely going to do this. I have a hard time because I don't have the ability to do it myself, but I'm going to be able to kill him, and that will kill me.

RP 1213-14.

He also left voice mails before driving up on May 7th:

- [Y]ou need to face this right now. I'm serious. This is not going to end well....You need to call me because I'm going to be driving all the way there and it's not going to be good once I get there.
- You're going to have to face me at one time or another....You know I'm going to escalate, things worse and worse and worse.....

RP 1215-18.

Using another prisoner's PIN, Diggins called his daughter from the jail and admitted his plan in driving to Longview was to kill Deszendeffy and himself. RP 1222-25; Ex. 38. He said:

"I don't even have a defense[.]" RP 1223. Referring to the messages he had sent Madison, Diggins said the State had a message "from me to you that it's stating that I was going to go do that." RP 1223. Diggins admitted the messages about killing Deszendeffy made things look "really bad" for him. RP 1223.

Diggins read his daughter a statement, claiming he abandoned his murder plan:

...The threats always included murder-suicide, or suicide, but never murder alone. I got cold feet...and never exited the car, because I was not ready to die that day because of the only thing I had left, my four-year-old son. That's all I have. That's all I got. I mean, that's all the defense I have that I didn't want to die that day, and I wasn't ready to die that day so I wasn't gonna kill him[.]

RP 1224.

After reading his statement, Diggins continued: "[T]hat's all I got, Maddie. It's a tough sell to the jury man. I was up there, and it's f***ed up, dude....That's the honest truth. I got cold feet. I wasn't gonna go through with it because I didn't want to die. I didn't want to kill myself. I mean, how could I do that? I

mean, I would go to prison forever. There was no ever, any way that that was ever on the table for me." RP 1225. He also said: "I decided not to kill myself, and I didn't go through with hurting him." RP 1225.

In voir dire, Diggins' attorney had suggested an attempted crime could be abandoned and assault was necessary to commit attempted murder. RP 970-75. During closing argument, the prosecutor directed the jury to the proper definition of a substantial step: conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose. RP 1271. Rebutting Diggins' attorney's minimization of driving to a home with a gun to kill the resident, the prosecutor stated: "[H]e did an act that strongly indicates a criminal purpose. Just like recently, an individual drove to a Supreme Court Justice's house to shoot him." RP 1272. No objection or motion for a mistrial was made. RP 1272. No further reference to Supreme Court Justice was made. RP 1272. The prosecutor again argued that by driving 60 miles with a gun to shoot Deszendeffy, Diggins took a substantial step, because his conduct strongly indicated a criminal purpose. RP 1272.

The jury found Diggins guilty of attempted murder in the first degree. RP 1291. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Opinion at 1-2. Diggins now petitions for review.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION FAILS TO RAISE GROUNDS UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Diggins' petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Diggins claims the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. However, the Court of Appeals applied existing authority in rendering its decision. Therefore, there is no conflict with any prior decision. Diggins does not claim grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)(4). Because Diggins fails to raise grounds under RAP 13.4(b), review should not be granted.

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION THAT AN ERROR IN THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT DOES NOT RAISE GROUNDS FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(1)(2).

Because there was overwhelming, undisputed evidence of Diggins' subjective intent to instill fear in the victims, the court's finding of harmless error does not conflict with any prior case of this Court or the Court of Appeals. "An erroneous instruction is harmless if, from the record in a given case, it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 332, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). Because there was uncontroverted evidence

of Diggins' subjective intent, the Court of Appeals found an erroneous jury instruction was harmless error. The court applied the constitutional standard for harmless error. Diggins' petition does not cite any authority showing this to be an inappropriate standard or an incorrect application of that standard.

Recently, the United States Supreme Court found that in a threat prosecution, the First Amendment requires "proof that the defendant had some subjective understanding of the threatening nature of his statements." *Counterman v. Colorado*, -- U.S --, 143 S.Ct. 2106, 2111, 216 L.Ed.2d 775 (2023). "The State must show that the defendant consciously disregarded a substantial risk that his communications would be viewed as threatening violence. The State need not prove any more demanding form of subjective intent to threaten another." *Id.* at 2111-12.

The issue of a true threat is for the trier of fact. *State v. Johnson*, 156 Wn.2d 355, 365, 127 P.3d 707 (2006). "A constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have

reached the same result in the absence of the error." State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). When a jury instruction fails to specifically instruct on a fact that must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, if there is overwhelming evidence of that fact and it was not at issue in a case, this constitutes harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Ammlung, 31 Wn. App. 696, 701, 644 P.2d 717 (1982). "When applied to an element omitted from, or misstated in, a jury instruction, the error is harmless if that element is supported by uncontroverted evidence." State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d at 341 (citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)).

In *State v. Calloway*, --- Wn. App. 2d ---, 550 P.3d 77, 87 (2024), the jury was not instructed on the subjective intent requirement set forth in *Counterman*. The standard of review for this omission was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 88. Due to the severity of Calloway's threats, and the jury's disbelief of his claim of not making threats, the jury instruction

error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 89. Under the circumstances, no reasonable jury would have found Calloway did not at least consciously disregard a substantial risk his communications would be viewed as threatening violence. *Id.*

Here, in the first trial, the jury found Diggins guilty of felony harassment and cyberstalking. Because the trial occurred before *Counterman* was decided, the jury was not instructed on the subjective standard. However, from the record it can be shown beyond a reasonable doubt that failing to instruct the jury on the subjective standard did not contribute to the verdict obtained. There was uncontroverted evidence that Diggins subjectively intended his statements to be threatening in nature, exceeding *Counterman's* subjective *mens rea* requirement.

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